# RECEIVED

05-02-2016

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

#### DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2015AP2628

In the Matter of the Refusal of Steven N. Jackson STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

STEVEN N. JACKSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A FINDING THAT THE DEFENDANT UNLAWFULLY REFUSED AN IMPLIED CONSENT TEST, ENTERED IN THE LA CROSSE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT CASE 15-TR-342, THE HONORABLE SCOTT L. HORNE, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

TODD E. SCHROEDER State Bar # 1048514 Attorney for Defendant-Respondent

DEVANIE, BELZER & SCHROEDER, S.C. 300 North 2<sup>nd</sup> Street, Suite 200 La Crosse, WI 54601 (608) 784-8055

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN RECEIVING AND RELYING UPON AN AUDIO RECORDING WHERE NO WITNESS TESTIFIED AS TO WITNESSING THE RECORDING, CREATING THE RECORDING, OR HAVING KNOWLEDGE OF THE TECHNICAL ASPECTS AND CHAIN OF CUSTODY OF THE RECORDING.

The trial court admitted the recording under Wis. Stat. § 909.015(1), finding that Deputy Olson authenticated the recording because he claimed to recognize it as a squad video.

II. DID PROBABLE CAUSE EXIST TO ARREST THE DEFENDANT FOR OPERATING WHILE INTOXICATED AND TO REQUEST A BLOOD TEST?

The trial court found that there was probable cause to arrest the defendant.

### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The appellant does not request oral argument as the briefs of the parties should sufficiently address the issues.

Publication is unnecessary as the issues both involve an application of settled law to an isolated set of facts.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant, Jackson, appeals an order finding that he unlawfully refused a blood test under Wisconsin's implied consent statute, Wis. Stat. §  $343.305(9)^1$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Unless specified, all statutory references are to the 2013-2014 Wisconsin Statutes.

On January 3<sup>rd</sup>, 2015, the defendant was issued a notice of intent to revoke his operating privileges (App. 55),(3). He timely filed a request for a refusal hearing (App. 56)(4), which was held on December 1st, 2015 (13). At the refusal hearing the court admitted 3 minutes of an audio recording (App. 15-22) (13:14-21), which involved the reading of The Informing the Accused form to an unidentified individual<sup>2</sup> (7: Time 4:08:38-4:11:30). The only witness at the hearing, Deputy Olson, admitted that he did not personally witness the events of the audio-recording, could not identify whether it involved the defendant and could not say whether it was accurate (App. 29-30), (13:28-29). The defendant objected to the admission of the recording on the basis that foundation and authenticity were not established (App. 13-14), (13:12-13). The court admitted and relied exclusively upon the recording to find that the defendant unlawfully refused an implied consent test (App. 49-50), (13:48-49).

The defendant also argued that Deputy Olson's recollection and testimony were conclusory and insufficient to establish probable cause for his arrest (App. 42), (13:41). The court found probable cause for the arrest (App. 49), (13:48), denying the motion and revoking the defendant's license (App. 51), (13:50).

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  While the recording is purportedly a squad video, the appellant refers to the recording as an audio because the video depiction of an empty parking lot adds no evidentiary significance, (7: Time 4:08:38-4:11:30).

At the refusal hearing, the State called one witness, Deputy Jorrey Olson (App. 3), (13:2). Deputy Olson testified that he has less than two years of law enforcement experience (App. 8), (13:7). He also testified to the following information: At approximately 2:30 in the morning he observed an unattended truck that struck a telephone pole (App. 5), (13:4) and that was registered to Jackson (App. 7), (13:6). Deputy Olson went to Jackson's home where another officer, Sgt. Jacobson, was already conversing with Jackson (App. 7), (13:6). Deputy Olson claimed that he could smell an odor of intoxicants coming from Jackson; that Jackson's eyes were red, bloodshot and glassy; that Jackson's shirt was ripped and contained blood stains; and that Jackson had some red bumps on his head (App. 7), (13:6). At the refusal hearing, there was no evidence that anyone saw Jackson operating a vehicle or that he indicated that he drove or operated a vehicle that evening.

Regarding impairment, Deputy Olson testified that Jackson's balance and coordination throughout the field sobriety tests were "impaired" (App. 9), (13:8). Deputy Olson claimed that he recalled a preliminary breath test being administered and the result being above a .08, but he could not recall the result (App. 10), (13:9) or even whether he or Sgt. Jacobson administered the test (App. 38), (13:37).

Regarding the field sobriety tests, Deputy Olson explained, "I did not observe any clues for the HGN because I wasn't close enough to observe that, but I did observe him do the one-legged stand and the walk and turn. But like I said, I did not—I cannot recall the exact clues that were exhibited." (App. 37), (13:36). Deputy Olson could not identify which or how many clues Mr. Jackson exhibited on the field sobriety tests (App. 37), (13:36).

Ultimately, Mr. Jackson was placed under arrest by Sgt. Jacobson. Upon arrest, Sgt. Jacobson and Jackson entered Sgt. Jacobson's patrol vehicle and completely and totally left Deputy Olson's sight.

Deputy Olson admitted that after Sgt. Jacobson and Mr. Jackson left his sight he lacked independent knowledge as to where they went (App. 28-29), (13:27-28). Deputy Olson did not know what time they left (App. 25), (13:24), and he had no personal knowledge as to whether or when the Informing the Accused form was ever read to Mr. Jackson (App. 28), (13:27). No other witnesses were called at the hearing.

In an effort to meet its burden of demonstrating that Sgt. Jacobson complied with the statutory mandates requisite to the court upholding the refusal, the State introduced less than 3 minutes of an audio recording, starting at the purported time of 4:08:38 and ending at 4:11:30. The visual portion of the recording depicted only a vacant parking lot (7: Time 4:08:38). Neither Jackson, Sgt. Jacobson nor any identifiable landmarks were depicted on the recording. (7: Time 4:08:38). The audio component of the recording involved a voice reading the informing the accused language to an unidentified individual. (7: Time 4:08:38-4:11:30).

In an effort to establish the recording's authenticity, the State displayed a paused screen which Olson said was "the video system for our squad cameras" (App. 12), (13:11). Olson was then asked and answered the following leading questions:

Q: "On the bottom left corner under the general section it appears to show an officer designation '103 Jacobson?"" (App. 12), (13:11). A: "yes." (App. 12), (13:11).

Q: "And then that resp—that would correspond with whatever deputy or whatever sergeant is involved or whoever is assigned that vehicle?" (App. 12), (13:11).

A: "Yep." (App. 12), (13:11).

Q: "At the very bottom of the screen do you see a designation says date slash time. Correct?" (App. 13), (13:12).

A: "Yes." (App. 13), (13:12)

Q: "And that the current time it looks like four -4:08 a.m. would that be consistent with the time that Sergeant Jacobson would have, I guess, left the scene and arrived at the hospital?" (App. 13), (13:12).

A: "Yes, it would." (App. 13), (13:12)

However, Deputy Olson later admitted that he did not know when Sgt. Jacobson and Mr. Jackson left Mr. Jackson's residence (App. 25), (13:24), that he did not know how long they were in Sgt. Jacobson's patrol car (App. 26), (13:25), and that he did not know the next time anybody else was in Sgt. Jacobson's car (App. 26), (13:25). Deputy Olson admitted that he could not say whether or not the video was accurate or complete (App. 29), (13:28), and he could not identify who Sgt. Jacobson was talking to in the video or the duration of the video (App. 30), (13:29). Deputy Olson admitted that if the video happened to involve a different arrest—not Mr. Jackson's—he would not know "past the fact it was Sgt. Jacobson" (App. 30), (13:29). Deputy Olson admitted that all of his knowledge about what happened in the video comes *from* the video and that if the video was not accurate he would not know one way or the other (App. 30), (13:29).

No evidence was presented establishing who created the video, who possessed the video, or where it came from, other than that Deputy Olson recognizing the screen as "the video system for our squad cameras" (App. 12), (13:11). There was no evidence that the video contained any selfauthenticating markings or certifications.

#### ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN **RECEIVING AND RELYING UPON AN** AUDIO RECORDING WHERE NO WITNESS **TESTIFIED** TO WITNESSING THE **RECORDING**, CREATING THE RECORDING, OR HAVING **KNOWLEDGE** OF THE TECHNICAL ASPECTS AND CHAIN OF CUSTODY OF THE RECORDING.

In order to revoke a driver's license under the implied consent law, the court must find that the officer read the statutorily-required language to the defendant (hereinafter "the Informing the Accused") and that the defendant refused. Wis. Stat. § 343.305(9)5; *see also State v. Nordness*, 128 Wis. 2d 15, 28, 381 N.W.2d 300 (1986). In this case, the only evidence on either point was the audio portion of a threeminute recording of a voice reading the Informing the Accused to an unidentified individual who audibly refused (7: Time 4:08:38-4:11:30). As explained below, the State failed to establish the authenticity or identification of the recording. Thus the lower court erred in admitting the recording.

#### a. Standard of Review

Generally appellate courts apply the abuse of discretion standard to issues regarding admissibility of evidence. State v. Doss, 2008 WI 93, 312 Wis. 2d 570, 585, 754 N.W.2d 150. Whether statutory requirements of admissibility are met, however, involves statutory interpretation, a question of law subject to de novo review. Id. at 585. This case involves the statutory requirement of authenticity pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 909.01, which is "preliminary and precedent to a question of admissibility." State v. Denton, 2009 WI App 78, 319 Wis. 2d 718, 733, 768 N.W.2d 250. Thus whether the court reasonably applied the law to the evidence is subject to an abuse of discretion standard. Whether the court applied the correct legal standard is subject to de novo review.

## b. Requirements of Identification and Authentication of an Audio-Recording.

In an evidentiary hearing, the proponent of a particular item of evidence must lay a foundation as to the relevancy of that evidence. Wis. Stat. § 904.01. Relevant evidence is admissible, whereas irrelevant evidence is not. Wis. Stat. § 904.02. Under Wis. Stat. § 906.02, "a witness may not testify to a matter unless evidence is introduced sufficient to support a finding that the witness has personal knowledge of the matter." The witness's personal knowledge may be established through testimony. *Id*.

When establishing the admissibility of a specific piece of evidence, "authentication is a special aspect of relevance and is preliminary and precedent to a question of admissibility." *State v. Denton*, 2009 WI App 78, 319 Wis. 2d 718, 733, 768 N.W.2d 250. In order to establish the foundation for the evidence, Wis. Stat. § 909.01 provides,

"the requirements of authentication or identification as a condition precedent to admissibility are satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims." *Id.* at 733. Wis. Stat. § 909.015 provides illustrations of the types of evidence or testimony that would provide the authentication required under § 909.01. Wis. Stat. § 909.015. In addition, there are a number of ways that a document is self-authenticating in that no extrinsic evidence is necessary to establish authentication. Wis. Stat. § 909.02.

There are special requirements that must be met in order to adequately authenticate an audio conversation. "Tapes are properly identified and authenticated when *a party to the recorded conversation* identifies *the defendant's voice* and testifies that the tapes *accurately depict the conversations.*" *State v. Curtis*, 218 Wis. 2d 550, 552 582 N.W.2d 409 (Ct. App. 1998)(emphasis added)(adopting the reasoning of *United States v. Carrasco*, 887 F.2d 794, 801 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1989)).

Federal cases dealing with Fed. R. Evid. 901(a), the federal authentication statute which is virtually identical to Wisconsin's, have ruled consistently with *Curtis*, 218 Wis. 2d at  $552.^3$  Applying the federal rule, the Seventh Circuit stated,

"Clear and convincing evidence of the truth, accuracy, and authenticity of a tape may be shown in two ways. The proponent may show the tape's chain of custody. ... If no proof as to chain of custody is rendered, the tape may be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Cases applying an analogous federal statute are persuasive authority in applying the Wisconsin Statute. *State v. Boettcher*, 144 Wis. 2d 86, 92, 423 N.W.2d 533 (1998)

admissible if a foundation as to the accuracy and trustworthiness of the evidence is laid. In this circuit, the recollections of eyewitnesses to the events in question are sufficient to establish a foundation for the admission of tapes."

Smith v. City of Chicago, 242 F.3d 737, 741-42 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2001)(internal quotations and citations omitted). Likewise, in United States v. Carrasco, whose reasoning was explicitly adopted in Curtis, 218 Wis. 2d at 552, the 7th Circuit held, "in the case of either an original or a duplicate tape the government may establish a foundation for accuracy and truth of the tape through 'evidence of chain of custody and by the correspondence between the tape's version of the events...and the recollections of eyewitnesses to those events; in this circuit, either variety of evidence can establish a tape's foundation."" United States v. Carrasco, 887 F.2d 794, 802 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1989)(quoting United States v. Blakey, 607 F.2d 779, 787 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1979)).

## c. Deputy Olson's Testimony Failed to Establish the Recording's Authenticity

Turning to the case at hand, the State sought to admit what was purported to be a recording of Deputy Jacobson reading the defendant the Informing the Accused form, as well as what is purported to be the defendant's verbal refusal to submit to an evidentiary test of his blood. However, although the three-minute recording includes a visual image of a parking lot, there is no apparent correlation between the parking lot and the audio (7: Time 4:08:38). The individuals who are speaking never appear on the video whatsoever. *Id*. Therefore, the recording is akin to nothing more than a standard audio recording. According to the requirements of authentication discussed above, Olson could have authenticated the recording either by having witnessed the events in the recording or possibly by testifying to sufficient facts pertaining to the chain of custody and technical aspects of the recording so as to ensure that it was a true and accurate recording of what it purported to be. He did neither.

Instead Deputy Olson admitted that he had no way of knowing whether the content of the recording was accurate, because he was not present to witness the conversation (App. 29), (13:28). While he indicated that he recognized Jacobson's voice (App. 16), (13:15), he never indicated he recognized the other voice as the defendant's. Rather, he admitted that he did not know to whom Jacobson was talking on the recording (App. 29), (13:28). Further, he could not say whether it involved the defendant or another arrest (App. 30), (13:29).

Deputy Olson's testimony also failed to establish the chain of custody or any technical aspects the recording. He did not establish how the recording was made, who made it or who had access to it. There was no evidence as to how the audio related to the video screen or the significance of the purported time on the screen. Deputy Olson admitted that all of his knowledge about what was depicted on the screen comes *from the recording* and that if it was inaccurate he would not know (App. 29), (13:28). Thus his identifying Jacobson's name and officer number and the displayed time was simply parroted hearsay. It *presumes* the authenticity of the recording. It does not *establish* it.

Without fulfilling the requirement set out in *Curtis*, 218 Wis. 2d at 552, the State did not lay the requisite foundation to admit the audio recording. Therefore, the Court

should find that the lower court erred in admitting the recording under Wis. Stat. § 909.015(1). Because the recording was the only evidence tending to establish that Sgt. Jacobson complied with Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4) or that the defendant refused an implied consent test, the Court should reverse the lower court's finding that the defendant refused an implied consent test.

## II. PROBABLE CAUSE DID NOT EXIST TO ARREST THE DEFENDANT FOR OPERATING WHILE INTOXICATED OR TO REQUEST A BLOOD TEST

#### a. Standard of Review

Determining whether probable cause exists to arrest involves a mixed question of law and fact. *State v. Anagnos*, 2012 WI 64, 341 Wis. 2d 576, 586, 815 N.W.2d 675. The Wisconsin Supreme Court explained, "first, we reviewed the circuit court's findings of historical fact under the clearly erroneous standard. Second we review the application of those historical facts to the constitutional principles independent of the determinations rendered by the circuit court..." *Id.* at 586.

## b. Testimony of the State's Only Witness Did not Establish Probable Cause

Interpreting Wis. Stat. § 343.305(9)5.a., the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that at a refusal hearing the defendant can challenge probable cause and "whether the person was lawfully placed under arrest for violation of an OWI-related statute." *State v. Anagnos*, 2012 WI 64, 341 Wis. 2d 576, 586, 815 N.W.2d 675.

The WI Supreme Court discussed probable cause as it related to operating while intoxicated in a footnote in *State v*. *Swanson*:

"for a search incident to an arrest to be lawful, the arrest itself must be lawful, and for the arrest to be lawful, probable cause for arrest must exist. Probable cause requires more than bare suspicion. Unexplained erratic driving, the odor of alcohol, and the coincidental time of the incident form the basis for a reasonable suspicion but should not, in the absence of a field sobriety test, constitute probable cause to arrest someone for driving while under the influence of intoxicants."

*State v. Swanson*, 164 Wis. 2d 437, 453 n.6, 475 N.W.2d 148, 155 (1991).

In this case the facts adduced at the hearing failed to establish any more than a mere suspicion that that Mr. Jackson was operating a motor vehicle or that his ability to operate a motor vehicle was impaired.

The testimony relating to whether Mr. Jackson actually operated a motor vehicle was that (1) a vehicle registered in his name was found abandoned, and (2) when later awakened in his home in the early morning hours, Mr. Jackson's shirt was ripped and contained blood stains and Mr. Jackson had "some red bumps" on his head. (App. 7), (13:6). Without more, these vague references say nothing as to whether Mr. Jackson was in an accident, much less driving. Nothing raised a reasonable inference that the stains were actually blood, that they were fresh, or that they had anything to do with driving a vehicle. Likewise, with respect to the testimony that Mr. Jackson had red bumps on his head, one can only speculate as to whether the bumps were contusions, a rash, or a hand mark after having been sleeping. Deputy Olson never indicated that Mr. Jackson appeared to have been in an accident. Likewise, there were no statements or observations made suggesting that Mr. Jackson was driving. Accordingly the State failed to establish probable cause regarding this element.

Deputy Olson's testimony also failed to establish that Mr. Jackson's ability to drive was impaired. Deputy Olson made conclusory assertions that Mr. Jackson's performance on the field sobriety tests was "impaired" and that a preliminary breath test result was above the legal limit, but Deputy Olson admitted that he did not know the results of the preliminary breath test (App. 10), (13:9) or even who administered the test (App. 37), (13:36). He also admitted he did not know which or how many clues of impairment Mr. Jackson exhibited during the field sobriety tests (App. 37), (13:36). The only specific facts that Deputy Olson could recall arguably relating to impairment were that Mr. Jackson's eyes were red and that he emitted the odor of alcohol (App. 7), (13:6). These facts fall far short of establishing probable cause that Mr. Jackson's ability to operate a motor vehicle was impaired.

#### CONCLUSION

For the above-stated reasons, the defendant-appellant respectfully requests that the trial court's order finding that he unlawfully refused an implied consent test be REVERSED.