### **RECEIVED**

06-22-2016

# STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS C O U R T $\,$ O F $\,$ A P P E A L $^{\hbox{\scriptsize of}}$ WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2015AP002628

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

V.

STEVEN N. JACKSON,

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT'S FINDING OF UNLAWFUL REFUSAL, THE HONORABLE SCOTT L. HORNE, PRESIDING

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOHN W. KELLIS Assistant District Attorney State Bar #1083400

Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent

La Crosse County District Attorney's Office 333 Vine Street, Room 1100 La Crosse, Wisconsin 54601-3296 (608) 785-9604 (608) 789-4853 (Fax) john.kellis@da.wi.gov

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

Did the circuit court err in finding that an assisting officer properly authenticated a law enforcement vehicle squad video prior to its admission into evidence?

Did law enforcement have probable cause to arrest Jackson for operating while intoxicated or with a prohibited alcohol concentration?

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Publication is precluded by Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(b)(4) as this appeal shall be decided by one judge. Oral argument is not requested.

#### SUPPLEMENTAL STATEMENT OF THE CASE

As the plaintiff-respondent, the State exercises its option not to present a full statement of the case. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.19(3)(a)2.

#### ARGUMENT

III. The circuit court properly admitted into evidence squad video footage capturing Sgt. Jacobson's contact with Jackson following his arrest.

#### A. Standard of Review.

Appellate courts will generally reverse a lower court's ruling related to the admission of evidence only upon a clear showing of erroneous use of discretion. *State v. Franklin*, 2004 WI 38,¶ 6, 270 Wis.2d 271, 677 N.W.2d 276. A proper exercise of discretion requires that the circuit court rely on facts of record, the applicable law, and, using a demonstrable rational process, reach a reasonable decision. *State v. Manuel*, 2005 WI 75, ¶ 24, 281 Wis.2d 554, 697 N.W.2d 811.

B. Deputy Olson was able to properly authenticate the admitted squad video by identifying Sgt. Jacobson's voice and unique markings on the video interface.

Jackson asserts on appeal that the circuit court erred in receiving into evidence a law enforcement squad vehicle video (hereinafter "squad video") offered by the State to establish that La Crosse County Sherriff's Department Sergeant James Jacobson, who passed away prior to the scheduled refusal hearing, properly complied with the statutory obligations set forth within Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4) and that Jackson refused to take a test under Wis. Stat. § 343.305(3)(a). Jackson's Br. at 10-12.

Jackson maintains that the State laid an insufficient foundation to authenticate the squad video pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 909.01 prior to its admission. Jackson's Br. at 10-12. Specifically, Jackson argues the squad video should not have been admitted because (1) Deputy Olson did not personally witness the events captured by the squad video and (2) Deputy Olson did not testify "to sufficient facts pertaining to the chain of custody and technical aspects of the recording so as to ensure that it was a true and accurate recording of what it purported to be." Jackson's Br. at 11.1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Jackson's counsel also objected to the admission of the squad video into evidence as a violation of Jackson's constitutional right to confront his accuser, declaring a refusal hearing a "quasi-criminal proceeding" (13:22; R-Ap. 122). Because defense counsel later acknowledged a lack of authority supporting said argument (13:22; R-Ap. 122), and

The State does not dispute that Deputy Olson was not present at the time Sgt. Jacobson requested a blood sample from Jackson. However, for the reasons stated below, the State maintains that a sufficient foundation was presented for the circuit court to admit the squad video into evidence, and further, that the circuit court properly relied upon the audio recording captured by the squad video to determine Sgt. Jacobson complied with Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4) and Jackson unreasonably refused to submit to an evidentiary chemical test of his blood.

"The requirements of authentication or identification as a condition precedent to admissibility are satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims." Wis. Stat. § 909.01.

On appeal, Jackson rests virtually his entire argument upon this court's decision in *State v. Curtis*, 218 Wis. 2d 550, 582 N.W.2d 409 (Ct. App. 1998), for the proposition that an audio recording is authenticated only when a party to the recorded conversation identifies the defendant's voice and testifies that the tapes accurately depict the conversation. Jackson's Br. at 9-10.

However, Jackson's reliance upon *Curtis* conflicts with his very concession that Deputy Olson could authenticate the recording in more than one manner. Jackson's Br. at 11. In *Curtis*, this court recognized that a party to a conversation who testifies that the voices on an

because Jackson appears to have abandoned such argument on appeal, the State offers no additional response to that claim.

audio recording are his and a defendant's is "a valid avenue of authentication." 218 Wis.2d 550, 582 N.W.2d 409 (Ct. App. 1998). Of particular relevance to Jackson's claim, *Curtis* did not establish a rule that this was the *only* avenue for authentication.

To the contrary, Wis. Stat. § 909.015 offers litigants a number of examples in which evidence may be authenticated, including "[a]ppearance, contents, substance, internal patterns, or other distinctive characteristics, taken in conjunction with circumstances." Wis. Stat. § 909.015(4). Authentication also through may occur "[i]dentification of a voice. whether heard firsthand or through mechanical or electronic transmission or recording, by opinion based upon hearing the voice at any time under circumstances connecting it with the alleged speaker." Wis. Stat. § 909.015(5).

At the refusal hearing, Deputy Olson was asked during direct examination whether he was able to identify State's Exhibit 1, a video which the State maintained captured Sgt. Jacobson's contact with Jackson following his arrest (13:10-11; R-Ap. 110-11). In viewing the exhibit, Deputy Olson was able to identify the video interface as the video system for his agency's squad camera (13:11; R-Ap. 111).

Deputy Olson was also able to identify the voice heard reading the Informing the Accused form as Sgt. Jacobson (13:15; R-Ap. 115). Deputy Olson testified to his knowledge that Sgt. Jacobson was responsible for taking the defendant to the hospital for a blood draw (13:11; R-Ap. 111). Deputy Olson confirmed that no other individuals

other than Jackson were with Sgt. Jacobson before he left for the hospital and he placed no other individuals under arrest at that time (13:21; R-Ap. 121).

Over Jackson's objection on hearsay grounds, the circuit court permitted Deputy Olson to describe the significance of the designation "103 Jacobson" on the exhibit's video interface, which Deputy Olson agreed corresponded with the law enforcement officer involved or assigned to that particular vehicle (13:11; R-Ap. 111). Deputy Olson also agreed that the timestamp on the portions of the video played for the court were consistent with the time in which Sgt. Jacobson was transporting Jackson to the hospital for a blood draw (13:12; R-Ap. 112).

During the testimony of Deputy Olson, having overruled a litany of objections to the authentication of the squad video presented at the hearing, the circuit court found:

But what I have right now is a tape that I found to be authenticated. I've had testimony from the officer that Sergeant Jacobson was driving the defendant to the hospital for the purposes of the blood draw. I've heard testimony that the squad video is from Jacobson's vehicle at the time that he would have been transporting the defendant. I've heard testimony that he recognized the voice on the audio as that of Sergeant Jacobson. The voice on the audio is reading the Informing the Accused, apparently verbatim, and I then have a response from the other party in the vehicle indicating that he would not submit to the test.

Circumstantially, I think that's evidence of the Informing the Accused being read by Sergeant Jacobson, and at least at this point – I assume we're not completed with the testimony on this matter – but at least circumstantially I think a reasonable inference can be drawn that the voice of the other party is the party that was being transported, that being the defendant.

#### (13:17-18; R-Ap. 117-18).

Following the circuit court's ruling, defense counsel then endeavored to ask a number of questions for the stated purpose of establishing "that [Deputy Olson] doesn't have knowledge that the matter is what it is - what it is supposed to be" (13:27; R-Ap. 127). Specifically, Deputy Olson was asked a number of questions testing whether he could identify the squad video without certain auxiliary information, such as embedded timestamps, or whether he could identify the video if certain unspecified data was entered incorrectly (13:27-29; R-Ap. 127-29).

In *Horak v. Building Services Industrial Sales Company*, this court recognized, "Authentication does not require proving that the documents are incontrovertibly what they purport to be, but rather authentication requires presenting evidence sufficient to support a finding that the documents are what they purport to be." 2012 WI App 54, ¶ 13, 329 Wis.2d 240, 815 N.W.2d 400.

Applying the rationale underlying this court's holding in *Horak*, it should be evident that the cross-examination of Deputy Olson was intended

not to address whether the squad video was properly authenticated pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 909.01 but rather to cast doubt on whether it was incontrovertibly proven to be the squad video which captured Sgt. Jacobson's recitation of the Informing the Accused and Jackson's refusal to submit to a chemical test of his blood.

Deputy Olson understandably encountered difficulties answering questions about an arrest made nearly one year prior without first reviewing police reports or reexamining the squad video in question. One may surmise that this difficulty may have had an effect on the weight the circuit court afforded the evidence, but consistent with this court's holding in *Horak*, it did not require the find circuit court to the squad unauthenticated pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 909.01 or otherwise exclude it from consideration.

At the time of the refusal hearing, Jackson's counsel was unable to articulate any case, statute or other authority supporting his argument (13:19-20; R-Ap. 119-20). Accordingly, the circuit court properly applied Wis. Stat. § 909.01 to the facts presented and correctly found that the State provided a sufficient foundation to authenticate the squad video offered at the refusal hearing (13:17; R-Ap. 117). This court should affirm that decision, finding that the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in arriving at this conclusion.

IV. Sgt. Jacobson and Deputy Olson had probable cause to believe Jackson was operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated and with a prohibited alcohol concentration at the time of his arrest.

#### A. Standard of Review

Whether probable cause to arrest exists in a given case is a question of law that appellate courts determine independently of the circuit court, but benefiting from its analysis. *Washburn County v. Smith*, 2008 WI 23, ¶ 16, 308 Wis.2d 65, 746 N.W.2d 243.

B. Police detected numerous signs of intoxication in Jackson, the lone occupant and presumptive driver of his crashed vehicle.

Jackson's second claim on appeal asserts that probable cause did not exist for law enforcement to arrest him for operating while intoxicated (13:13-14; R-Ap. 113-14). For the reasons articulated below, the State maintains that law enforcement had probable cause to believe Jackson had operated a motor vehicle while intoxicated or with a prohibited alcohol concentration.

Deputy Olson testified that on January 3, 2016, at approximately 2:30 AM, he was dispatched the a motor vehicle accident (13:4; R-Ap. 104). *See State v. Lange*, 2009 WI 49, ¶ 32, 317 Wis.2d 383, 76 N.W.2d 551 (recognizing police contact at "bar time" as a factor supporting an officer's suspicion of impaired driving).

Contrary to Jackson's mischaracterization of the evidence offered at the refusal hearing, his vehicle was not simply found abandoned (13:13; R-Ap.113). Jackson's Br. at 13. Rather, Deputy Olson observed Jackson's registered vehicle on the south side of the road "smashed against a telephone pole" (13:4; R-Ap. 104). Deputy Olson noted that a couple hundred feet down the road, it appeared the vehicle had also run off the road and stuck a street sign (13:5; R-Ap. 105).

Deputy Olson and Sgt. Jacobson made contact with the Jackson, the registered owner of the crashed vehicle, at Jackson's residence (13:6; R-Ap. 106). Deputy Olson observed numerous signs of intoxication upon contacting Jackson, including the odor of intoxicants emitting from his person and red, bloodshot, glassy eyes (13:6; R-Ap. 106).

Deputy Olson also observed various indicators that Jackson was involved in a motor vehicle accident, including rips and blood stains on his white shirt and red bumps on his head (13:6; R-Ap. 106). Again, contrary to Jackson's argument that "Deputy Olson never indicated that Mr. Jackson appeared to have been in an accident," Deputy Olson actually testified that the injuries suffered by Jackson would be consistent with a person involved in a motor vehicle accident (13:6; R-Ap. 106). Jackson's Br. at 14.

Deputy Olson also recalled the interview between Sgt. Jacobson and Jackson concerning the driver of the located crashed vehicle (13:7; R-Ap. 107). Deputy Olson indicated that Jackson did not name any other individuals that were with him at the time of the crash, nor did Jackson indicate

that someone else was driving the vehicle (13:7; R-Ap. 107).

Though not responsible for administering the series of standardized field sobriety tests, Deputy Olson acknowledged he was present during the testing and described Jackson's balance and coordination as impaired (13:8; R-Ap. 108). Deputy Olson even recognized that Jackson encountered troubles with the elementary task of reciting the English alphabet (13:10; R-Ap. 110).

Taken together, the facts presented at the refusal hearing supported that court's finding of probable cause to believe that Jackson had operated a motor vehicle while impaired by alcohol (13:45; R-Ap. 145). While Jackson was entitled to argue innocent justifications for the myriad of observations supporting the circuit court's decision, that court was in no way required to accept those self-serving explanations.

Furthermore, assuming *arguendo* that this court were to find such observations insufficient to support a probable cause to believe Jackson was operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of alcohol, law enforcement undoubtedly possessed probable cause to believe Jackson was operating a motor vehicle with a prohibited alcohol concentration once he submitted to a preliminary breath test. Wis. Stat. § 343.305(9)(a)(5)(a).

Contrary to Jackson's deceptive characterization of the testimony offered at the refusal hearing, Deputy Olson actually testified that he witnessed Jackson's preliminary breath test result and recalled that the result exceeded

the prohibited alcohol concentration limit of .08 (13:9-10; R-Ap. 109-10). Jackson's Br. at 14. While Deputy Olson was not able to identify Jackson's precise PBT result, no evidence was presented at the hearing demonstrating that Jackson's PBT result did not exceed .08.

this court law Assuming agrees that enforcement had probable cause to believe Jackson was operating a motor vehicle while with prohibited alcohol intoxicated or a concentration, the only remaining issues to be decided at a refusal hearing are whether Sgt. Jacobson properly recited the Informing the Accused in accordance with Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4) and whether Jackson refused to permit the test. Wis. Stat. § 343.305(9)(a)(5)(b)-(c).

However, Jackson's only claim on appeal concerning the three delineated issues a circuit court must address at a refusal hearing concerns whether there existed probable cause to believe he was operating while under the influence of an intoxicant. Jackson's Br. at 12. Assuming the circuit court properly admitted the squad video, Jackson makes no argument now that the arresting officer failed to comply with Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4) or that Jackson did not refuse to permit a test.

Consequently, should this court find the circuit properly admitted into evidence the squad video from Sgt. Jacobson's vehicle, Jackson's failure to advance any argument in his Brief-in-Chief that Sgt. Jacobson failed to comply with Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4) or that Jackson did not refuse to submit to a chemical test should preclude him from raising these new arguments in his reply.

Olivarez v. Unitrin Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co., 2006 WI App 189, ¶34, 296 Wis. 2d 337, 723 N.W.2d 131 (arguments not fully developed in appellant's brief-in-chief afford the respondent no opportunity to respond, and will not be reviewed).

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